### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NUMBER SC00-785

OLLIE JAMES GOAD,		)	
Petitioner,	)	)	
V.		)	
STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTM OF CORRECTIONS,	IENT	) ) )	
Respondent.		)	

Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal Case Number 1D99-0836 Padovano, Miner and Wolf, Judges

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

Respectfully submitted,

Peter M. Siegel, Esq. Randall C. Berg, Jr., Esq.

Florida Justice Institute, Inc. 2870 First Union Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-2310 305-358-2081 305-358-0910 (FAX) Attorneys for Petitioner

### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NUMBER SC00-785

OLLIE JAMES GOAD,		)	
Petitioner,	)	)	
V.		)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Ollie James Goad, seeks review of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal which became final on April 12, 2000, when the Respondent's Motion for Rehearing and Clarification was denied. The original decision of the First District Court of Appeal was rendered on March 13, 2000.

Petitioner sued the State of Florida, Department of Corrections (hereinafter "Department") for injuries sustained when he was attacked by another prisoner. R-01-03. The Department answered under certificate date of May 8, 1996, denying liability.<sup>1</sup> Subsequently, Mr. Goad filed an Amended Complaint. R-20-23. The Department then filed an Answer and Counterclaim. R-35-39. The Counterclaim alleged that the Department was entitled to recover costs of incarceration, at the rate of \$50.00 per day, for all days after July 1, 1994, pursuant to section 960.297, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1994). R-38.

<sup>1.</sup> Reference to the Answer does not appear in the Record Index prepared by the Circuit Court.

The impact of section 960.297 on Mr. Goad, as of the date this Brief is filed, is potential liability in the amount of \$107,050.00, based on the statutory rate of \$50.00 per day, or \$18,250.00 per year.

In response to the Counterclaim, Petitioner moved for Judgment on the Pleadings, asserting that (1) "[t]he statute is unconstitutional under the Florida and United States constitutional proscription against *ex post facto* laws," (2) "[r]etroactive application of the statute violates the due process clause of the Florida and United States Constitutions" because "retroactive application interferes with the settled expectations of the parties" and "also violates the notice provisions of the due process clauses" because "there was no notice at the time of the commission of Plaintiff's offenses or at sentencing that the State would charge Plaintiff for the costs of his incarceration, and (3) "[t]he sanction of § 960.297 violates the Double Jeopardy Clause of both the Florida and United States Constitutions." R-66-68.

The Circuit Court, without opinion, entered Judgment on the Pleadings in favor of Mr. Goad and dismissed the Counterclaim. R-137-138. The Department's Motion for Rehearing, R-121-136, was denied on February 15, 1999. R-147-149. A timely appeal to the First District Court of Appeal followed. R-150-154.<sup>2</sup> Before the District Court of Appeal, the Department addressed each of the arguments raised by the Mr. Goad in support of his Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. Mr. Goad, whose trial counsel had withdraw, filed a brief unresponsive to the issues at hand.

By opinion dated March 13, 2000, the First District Court of Appeal reversed, holding "[b]ecause the statute affords a civil remedy for the recovery of subsistence costs incurred after its enactment and does not increase the penalty for the inmate's crime, we conclude that it can be applied retroactively without violating the constitutional prohibition against *ex post facto* laws." *State of Florida v. Goad*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D682 (Fla. 1st DCA March 13, 2000). The District Court of Appeal did not address the due process or double jeopardy claims raised in the Circuit Court.

<sup>2.</sup> Subsequent to the entry of Judgment on the Pleadings, the Circuit Court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment on Mr. Goad's failure to protect claim (R-141-143 & R-144-146) and that matter is no longer in issue.

The First District Court of Appeal certified that its decision conflicted with the holding of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Gary v. State*, 669 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) and *Alberts v. State*, 711 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). *State of Florida v. Goad*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D682, n.1 (Fla. 1st DCA March 13, 2000). In *Gary* the appellant committed his crimes in 1992. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held it was error to impose a civil restitution lien "[b]ecause the restitution of the type imposed by the trial court was not a prescribed means of punishment at the time appellant committed his crimes." In *Alberts* the Second District Court of Appeal reached the same conclusion, although as the First District Court of Appeal noted, the holding can be viewed as dicta.

The Department's Motion for Rehearing and Clarification, filed on March 15, 2000, was denied on April 12, 2000.

Mr. Goad, now represented by counsel, filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on April 10, 2000, on the basis that the decision of the District Court of Appeal was within the discretionary jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court pursuant to Art. V, § 3(b)(3), *Fla. Const.* (1980) and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, based

4

on the statement in footnote one of the opinion that "[f]or the reasons expressed in this opinion, we certify conflict with these decisions."

At the time the Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed, counsel was unaware of the pending Motion for Rehearing and Clarification. Accordingly, an Amended Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed under certificate date of April 21, 2000.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. *Ex post Facto* Violation. As applied to Petitioner, the Civil Restitution Lien and Crime Victims' Remedy Act, §§ 960.29-297, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994)(the "Act") is an *ex post facto* law since it is (1) retrospective in its effect and (2) increases the penalty by which a crime is punishable. It is retrospective because it changes the legal consequences of acts completed before its effective date, attaching new, and substantial legal consequences to crimes committed years before the law took effect.

The core issue is whether the *ex post facto* clause can be avoided by characterizing the Act as a civil sanction for the recovery by the State of costs of incarceration. If the Act is a civil sanction, then Mr. Goad is not protected by the *ex post facto* clause. On the other hand, if the Act is a penal sanction, then the *ex post facto* clause prohibits its application to Mr. Goad.

The Act is a penal sanction. It dramatically increases the penalty imposed on Mr. Goad. On the date he committed his crimes, he was not required to pay for costs of incarceration. As a result of subsequently enacted legislation, he will owe the State nearly \$400,000 by the time he is

6

released from prison. There is no question but that the State has, after the fact, decided to treat more harshly those who commit crimes.

Although the Legislature liberally used the word "civil" throughout the Act, there are sound reasons to reject this slight of hand. First, the Act appears in that portion of the Florida Code which is entitled "Criminal Procedure and Corrections." Second, the debt created by the Act can be imposed as part of the criminal sentencing process. Third, restitution is generally considered a criminal sanction.

But, the primary reason to conclude that the Act is a penal sanction is that it has no independent existence. While it is true that conduct which is criminal can also subject the offender to civil sanctions, there must be some basis for the civil sanction other than only the criminal conviction. By holding that the Act created a civil remedy, and not a punitive sanction, the First District Court of Appeal overlooked the principle that "[t]he Constitution deals with substance, not shadows. Its inhibition was levelled at the thing, not the name. It intended that the rights of the citizen should be secure against deprivation for past conduct by legislative enactment,

7

under any form, however disguised."<sup>3</sup> Thus, the fundamental flaw in the decision below is the failure to recognize that a law that is triggered only by a criminal conviction and resulting incarceration is a penal law, despite the language the Legislature chooses to use.

II. Due Process Violation. The Civil Restitution Lien and Crime Victims' Remedy Act imposes an entirely new obligation on offenders. And, by its terms, it is expressly meant to apply retrospectively. Because it attaches new legal consequences to events completed before its enactment, and because it gives preenactment conduct a different legal effect from that which it would have had without the passage of the statute, the due process clause is implicated.

Without question, the Legislature has expressly stated that the Act is remedial and is to be applied retroactively. Just because the Legislature labels something as being remedial, however, does not make it so. Even when legislation expressly states that it is to have retroactive application, this Court has refused to apply a statute retroactively if the statute impairs

<sup>3.</sup> Cummings v. Missouri, 71 U.S. (4 Wall.) 277, 325 (1867).

vested rights, creates new obligations, or imposes new penalties. *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Laforet*, 658 So. 2d 55, 61 (Fla. 1995).

The Civil Restitution Lien and Crime Victims' Remedy Act creates new obligations and imposes new penalties. Therefore, under established Florida law, it cannot be applied retroactively. *Laforet* compels the conclusion that the Act cannot be applied to Mr. Goad.

### **ARGUMENT**

I.

### APPLICATION OF THE CIVIL RESTITUTION LIEN AND CRIME VICTIMS' REMEDY ACT TO THOSE WHOSE OFFENSES WERE COMMITTED PRIOR TO ITS ADOPTION VIOLATES THE PROHIBITION ON *EX POST FACTO* LAWS

At the time Mr. Goad committed his crimes, at the time he was sentenced, and at the time he came into the custody of the Department of Corrections, no statute authorized the Department to bring suit to recover the costs of incarceration from a prisoner. Now, as a result of the Civil Restitution Lien and Crime Victims' Remedy Act, §§ 960.29 - 297, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994), Mr. Goad faces a potential judgment of nearly \$400,000 based on his anticipated release date of October 12, 2015.<sup>4</sup> Section 960.293(2)(b), *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994) provides that a

defendant who is incarcerated for an offense that is neither a capital

<sup>4.</sup> Mr. Goad's crimes were committed in early 1990, he was sentenced on October 18, 1990, and he came into the custody of the Florida Department of Corrections on February 13, 1991. This public record information is available from the Web site of the Department at http://www.dc.state.fl.us/inmateinfo/inmateinfomenu.asp.

offense nor a life felony offense is liable to the state in the amount of \$50 per day for the costs of incarceration. The liability imposed by section 960.293(2)(b) is called a "civil restitution lien" and is enforceable in two ways. First, section 960.292(2), *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994) authorizes the court before which the offender's criminal case is pending to impose a lien for the costs of incarceration authorized by section 960.293(2). Second, section 960.297(1), *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994) authorizes the state to recover the costs of incarceration by way of litigation, including the filing of a counterclaim in a pending civil action.

The Act is explicitly made retrospective by section 960.297(2), *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994), which provides that for offenders convicted before July 1, 1994, the state may recover the \$50.00 per day fee "for the convicted offender's remaining sentence after July 1, 1994."

The First District Court of Appeal upheld the application of the Act to Mr. Goad, finding that the Act "affords a civil remedy" which "does not increase the penalty for the inmate's crime" and, therefore, "can be applied retroactively without violating the constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws." State of Florida v. Goad, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D682

(Fla. 1st DCA March 13, 2000).

Article I, Section 10 the Constitution of the United States, provides that: "No State shall . . . pass any . . . ex post facto Law. . . " The Florida provision, also Art. I, § 10, *Fla. Const.* (1980), is identical. In 1798 Mr.

Justice Chase described the meaning of the *ex post facto* Clause:

"1st. Every law that makes an action done before the passing of the law, and which was *innocent* when done, criminal; and punishes such action. 2d. Every law that aggravates a crime, or makes it *greater* than it was, when committed. 3d. Every law that *changes the punishment,* and inflicts a *greater punishment,* than the law annexed to the crime, when committed. 4th. Every law that alters the *legal* rules of *evidence,* and receives less, or different, testimony, than the law required at the time of the commission of the offence, *in order to convict the offender.*"

Calder v. Bull, 3 U.S. (3 Dall.) 386, 390 (1798) (emphasis in original). Mr.

Justice Chase's definition was most recently reaffirmed in Carmell v.

Texas, 13 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. S267 (U.S. May 1, 2000).

It is clearly established that any statute, such as section 960.297,

Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1994), "which makes more burdensome the punishment

for a crime, after its commission" is prohibited as *ex post facto*. *Beazell v. Ohio*, 269 U.S. 167, 169-170 (1925).

In *Gwong v. Singletary*, 683 So. 2d 109, 112 (Fla. 1996), *cert. denied*, 519 U.S. 1142 (1997), this Court explained that, "in evaluating whether a law violates the ex post facto clause, a two-prong test must be applied: (1) whether the law is retrospective in its effect; and (2) whether the law alters the definition of criminal conduct or increases the penalty by which a crime is punishable."

The Civil Restitution Lien and Crime Victims' Remedy Act, §§ 960.29-297, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994) meets both prongs of the *Gwong* test.

#### A. Section 960.297 is Retrospective in Effect

Section 960.297, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994) applies regardless of the date when a prisoner's offense was committed. The First District Court of Appeal correctly deemed section 960.297 to be retrospective for purposes of *ex post facto* analysis.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>5.</sup> The reason for the Department's Motion for Rehearing and Clarifica-(continued...)

"A law is retrospective if it 'changes the legal consequences of acts completed before its effective date." *Miller v. Florida*, 482 U.S. 423 (1987). Section 960.297 was enacted *after* the date of Mr. Goad's offenses. The legal consequences are certainly changed, to the tune of \$107,050.00 as of the due date of this Brief. Thus, the first prong of the test for an *ex post facto* law, retrospective application, is clearly met.

The Department's argument that section 960.297 is not retrospective ignores the fact that the trigger for its application is Mr. Goad's conviction and sentence to prison in 1990, not anything that happened on or after July 1, 1994. Indeed, the Department made the very same non-retrospective argument in *Weaver v. Graham*, 450 U.S. 24, 31 (1981), wherein it asserted that "Florida's 1978 law altering the availability of gain time is not retrospective because, on its face, it applies only after its effective date." In rejecting the argument, the United States Supreme Court held that "[t]he critical question is whether the law changes the legal consequences of acts completed before its effective date. ... Clearly, the answer is in the

<sup>5. (...</sup>continued)

tion, which was denied without opinion, was the claim that section 960.297 was not retrospective.

affirmative. The ... provision attaches legal consequences to a crime committed before the law took effect." 450 U.S. at 31. To the same effect are *Lynce v. Mathis*, 519 U.S. 433 (1997); *Waldrup v. Dugger*, 562 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1990); *Gwong v. Singletary*, 683 So. 2d 109 (Fla. 1996); *Britt v. Chiles*, 704 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 1997); and *State v. Lancaster*, 731 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 1998).

### B. Section 960.297 Results in an Increase in Punishment

The clear and obvious impact of section 960.297, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994) is to increase the level of punishment imposed on Mr. Goad. Now he must pay for his incarceration whereas, prior to enactment of section 960.297, he was not required to pay for his incarceration.<sup>6</sup> If the Act applies, then as of May 9, 2000, the Department would be entitled to a judgment in the amount of \$107,050.00. That certainly works to the

<sup>6.</sup> The number of prisoners from whom the state can actually collect the \$50.00 per day fee is, at best, minuscule. Thus, the practical effect of section 960.297 is to relieve the State from the consequences of its own wrongdoing. That follows because the State's maximum liability in tort, pursuant to section 768.28(5), *Fla. Stat.* (1999) is \$100,000. Thus, any prisoner serving 5½ years will be able to recover nothing, no matter how serious the prisoner's injury and no matter how egregious the State's conduct.

disadvantage of Mr. Goad. It certainly inflicts far greater punishment on Mr. Goad than was legally possible at the time of his crimes.

To overcome the prohibition on *ex post facto* laws, the Department argued below, and the First District Court of Appeal agreed, that section 960.297 does not impose a penal sanction but is simply a civil claim for damages. The fundamental flaw in the Department's argument is the failure to recognize that the Act's only application is to those who have committed a criminal offense, have been convicted of that offense, and have been sentenced to a period of incarceration. Nevertheless, because the Legislature liberally sprinkled the word "civil" throughout the Act, the First District Court of Appeal agreed with the Department that the Act created a civil remedy and, for purposes of *ex post facto* analysis, was not a punitive statute.

Obviously, the drafters of the Act knew that if it was deemed to create a civil, not a criminal, sanction, then the ban on *ex post facto* laws might be avoided. In upholding this slight of hand, the First District Court of Appeal overlooked the principle that "[t]he Constitution deals with substance, not shadows. Its inhibition was levelled at the thing, not the name. It intended that the rights of the citizen should be secure against deprivation for past conduct by legislative enactment, under any form, however disguised." *Cummings v. Missouri*, 71 U.S. (4 Wall.) 277, 325 (1867), cited in *Weaver v. Graham, supra*, 450 U.S. at 31 n.15.

Where the Legislature has clearly expressed its intent to impose a civil remedy that decision is entitled to great weight in determining whether the law at issue is civil or criminal. *Hudson v. United States*, 522 U.S. 93 (1997). Nevertheless, despite the frequent use of the word "civil", there are many reasons to reject the argument that section 960.297 imposes only a civil sanction.

As an initial matter, the use of the word "civil" is inconsistent with the placement of the Act in Title XLVII of the Florida Code, which is entitled "Criminal Procedure and Corrections." It is also inconsistent in that the "civil" restitution lien can be imposed by the trial court as part of the sentencing process, as authorized by section 960.292, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1994). Thus, it is fair to say that the Act is part and part of the criminal process.

17

Second, the use of the word "restitution," albeit with the word "civil" always in front, is also inconsistent since restitution is generally deemed to be a criminal sanction. *State v. Champe*, 373 So. 2d 874, 880 (Fla. 1978)("the five percent surcharge in Section 960.25 may quite properly be considered as a form of punishment for the offense. Punishment in the form of restitution is not a novel concept...").<sup>7</sup> Thus, it is fair to conclude that section 960.297 is part and parcel of the criminal process. To put it another way: a State, by *ipse dixit*, may not transform a criminal penalty into a civil remedy.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>7.</sup> Federal law also considers restitution to be punishment. Thus, all but one of the Federal Courts of Appeal which have considered whether application of the Mandatory Victims Restitution Act to conduct occurring before its enactment would violate the *ex post facto* clause have concluded it would. See *United States v. Edwards*, 162 F.3d 87 (3d Cir. 1998); *United States v. Karam*, 201 F.3d 320, 328 (4th Cir. 2000); *United States v. Siegel*, 153 F.3d 1256, 1259-1261 (11th Cir. 1998); *United States v. Bapack*, 129 F.3d 1320, 1327 n. 13 (D.C. Cir. 1997); *United States v. Williams*, 128 F.3d 1239, 1241 (8th Cir. 1997); *United States v. Baggett*, 125 F.3d 1319, 1322 (9th Cir. 1997); *United States v. Thompson*, 113 F.3d 13, 14 n. 1 (2d Cir. 1997). *Contra United States v. Newman*, 144 F.3d 531 (7th Cir. 1998).

<sup>8.</sup> *Cf. Webb's Fabulous Pharmacies, Inc. v. Beckwith*, 449 U.S. 155, 164 (1980).

Third, unlike section 960.297, the "civil" remedies sustained in recent cases such as *Hudson v. United States*, *supra*, and *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346 (1997) all have an independent existence not dependent on a criminal conviction and resulting incarceration, or even a criminal act, to trigger a civil remedy. Section 960.297, on the other hand, has no independent existence.

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