1The record on appeal is cited as (R:[page no.]).

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I:  Although the decision below certified conflict

with decisions by two other district courts; such conflict does

not actually exist, and thus cannot be "direct."  This Court

lacks jurisdiction on the only ground timely invoked.

If review is had, this Court should uphold application of

§960.297, Florida Statutes, to Goad.  The statute specifically

authorizes recovery of incarceration costs in the form of

liquidated damages at $50 per day.  Recovery is expressly

limited to costs arising on or after July 1, 1994.  The statute

does not operate retroactively; instead, it relies on the

antecedent event of imprisonment to trigger prospective

recovery. 

Section 960.297 is not punitive.  It speaks in terms of a

"civil lien," and has no attributes of a criminal law.  It does

not impose a criminal sanction, or impose a civil sanction so



3

harsh it must be deemed  criminal.  If held retroactive as

applied, §960.297 does not punish, and does not violate the Ex

Post Facto Clause of the U.S. or Florida Constitution.

Issue II: Section 960.297 expressly cross-references

§960.293; both sections were enacted in the same legislation.

They must be construed together.  Consequently, Ilkanic v. City

of Fort Lauderdale, 705 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1998), controls.

Section 960.297 does not facially violate substantive due

process.

If Goad has a substantive due process right against

application of §960.297, such right is specifically protected by

the Ex Post Facto Clause.  He cannot expand his right against ex

post facto legislation into a broad substantive due process

claim against any alteration of the status quo as it existed

when he committed his crime.

Otherwise, Goad's substantive due process argument assumes

both retroactivity and that the "expectation" of not paying

incarceration costs is both settled and reasonable.  As urged in

DOC's ex post facto argument, §960.297 does not operate

retroactively.  Goad's expectation of not paying future

incarceration cost is not based on a legally protected interest,

and is but a desire that the law not change in a way he opposes.
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Goad's only protected interest is that of not being further

punished for his pre-statute crimes.  Since §960.297 does not

impose punishment, Goad's substantive due process argument

fails.
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ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER APPLICATION OF §960.297, FLORIDA
STATUTES, TO INMATES WHOSE CRIMES PRECEDED THAT
LAW, VIOLATES THE EX POST FACTO CLAUSE OF THE
FLORIDA OR U.S. CONSTITUTION.

A.  No Conflict

This Court's order of April 14, 2000, postponed a decision

on jurisdiction.  Under Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla. Const., a

district court of appeal must certify "direct conflict with a

decision of another district court of appeal."  The decision

below certified the following conflict:

[T]he Fourth District Court of Appeal has
decided that the Florida Civil Restitution Lien
and Crime Victims' Remedy Act cannot be applied
retroactively. See Gary v. State, 669 So.2d 1087
(Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Although perhaps in dicta,
the Second District Court of Appeal has also
suggested that the Act cannot be applied
retroactively. See Alberts v. State, 711 So.2d
635 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). For the reasons
expressed in this opinion, we certify conflict
with these decisions.

(slip op., p. 3 n.1).

Carefully read, the decision below does not so establish

conflict jurisdiction.  Gary and Alberts involve retroactive

application of different provisions in §§960.29-.296, Florida

Statutes, which impose restitution liens upon criminals in favor

of victims.  In contrast, §960.297 imposes incarceration cost

liens in favor of the government.
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More important, §960.297 is expressly made prospective only,

by authorizing recovery of incarceration costs arising on or

after July 1, 1994.  See §960.297(2).  The statutes in Gary and

Alberts lacked this language, and also lacked clear legislative

intent for application to prior crimes.  There is no direct

conflict between those cases and this one.

The First DCA's certification of conflict does not posit

jurisdiction in this Court.  See 84 Lumber Co. v. Cooper, 656

So.2d 1297, 1298 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) ("[S]ubject matter

jurisdiction cannot be created by ... the exercise of power by

the court; it is a power that arises solely by virtue of law."

[internal quote omitted]).  This Court lacks subject matter

jurisdiction.

Neither Goad's first nor amended notice sought review on the

ground the decision below upheld §960.297 against an ex post

facto claim.  See Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const.  DOC opposes

review on this ground, as it was Goad's responsibility to

establish this Court's jurisdiction.  However, if this Court

exercises jurisdiction to reach the merits, it should do so

because the First DCA expressly held §960.297 valid; eliminating

the need to resolve the perceived, but actually non-existent,

conflict with Gary and Alberts.

B.  Standard Of Review



2Goad does not urge the right against ex post facto laws
under the Florida Constitution is substantively different from
the same right under the U.S. Constitution.  (See initial
brief, p.11-12).  Since it passes muster under the U.S.
Constitution, §960.297 passes muster under the Florida
Constitution.  See Cassady v. Moore, 737 So.2d 1174, 1178 n.5
(Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (describing the Ex Post Facto Clause of
Florida's Constitution as a "parallel provision" to the Ex
Post Facto Clause of the U.S. Constitution).

7

The constitutional challenges to §960.297 raise questions

of law only.  The decision below is reviewed de novo.  See

Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc., 721 So.2d 376, 377

(Fla. 5th DCA 1998).  Statutes are presumed constitutional;

§960.297 enjoys deference from this Court.  See State v.

Slaughter, 574 So.2d 218, 220 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (when trial

court holds statute unconstitutional, "the statute, rather than

the trial court's ruling, is favored with a presumption of

validity").

C. Ex Post Facto

A statute violates the Ex Post Facto Clause of the U.S. or

Florida Constitution2 if it: (1) punishes as crime an act

previously committed, which was innocent when done; (2) makes

more burdensome the punishment for crime after its commission;

or (3) deprives one charged with crime of any defense available

under law in effect when act was committed.  Collins v.

Youngblood, 110 S. Ct. 2715, 2719, (1990); State v. Hootman, 709
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So. 2d 1357, 1358-1359 (Fla. 1998); modified, State v.

Matute-Chirinos, 713 So.2d 1006, 1007 (Fla. 1998).  See also,

Gwong v. Singletary, 683 So.2d 109, 112 (Fla. 1996) (applying

two part test subsuming the first two circumstances in Collins),

cert. den. 117 S.Ct. 1018 (1997).

Neither the first nor third type of ex post facto violation

described in Collins and Hootman is pertinent.  DOC will address

Goad's contention the statute imposes new punishment for crimes

already committed.

1.  Section 960.297 Is Not Retroactive

Without analysis or citation to authority, the First DCA

concluded:  "Section 960.297 applies retroactively to the

existing population of prison inmates, but that alone does not

make it an ex post fact law."  (slip op., p.3).  Although the

court correctly held the statute was not ex post facto as

applied to Goad, it was incorrect in its terse assumption of

retroactive application.  DOC asks the Court to reverse this

much of the First DCA's decision, and hold the statute operates

prospectively while relying on the antecedent event of

imprisonment.

Section 960.297(2) provides:

For those convicted offenders convicted before
July 1, 1994, the state and its local
subdivisions, in a separate civil action or as a



9

counterclaim in any civil action, may seek
recovery of the damages and losses set forth in
s. 960.293, for the convicted offender's
remaining sentence after July 1, 1994.

Thus, the statute limits recovery of incarceration costs to

those arising on or after its effective date  of July 1, 1994.

Goad cannot be liable for the cost of incarcerating him from

February 1991 to July 1994.  

Rather than operate retroactively, §960.297 draws upon the

antecedent fact Goad was already incarcerated.  Reliance on

antecedent facts does not make a statute retroactive.  Landgraf

v. USI Film Products, 114 S.Ct. 1483, 1499 (1994):

A statute does not operate "retrospectively"
merely because it is applied in a case arising
from conduct antedating the statute's
enactment[.]  ...  Rather, the court must ask
whether the new provision attaches new legal
consequences to events completed before its
enactment.  [e.s.]

See Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corp., 737

So.2d 494, 499 (Fla. 1999) (same).

Had it authorized recovery of pre-enactment incarceration

cost (here, from February 1991 to July 1994), §960.297 indeed

would have been operating retroactively.  Instead, the statute

prospectively authorizes recovery of incarceration cost,

including recovery when incarceration results from a pre-statute

crime. 
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Therein lies the mistake in Goad's analysis.  Section

960.297 does not focus on pre-enactment crimes.  It focuses on

imprisonment which continues after its enactment.  Goad's

imprisonment was not over as of July 1, 1994; and thus was not

a completed event before the statute became law.  Liability for

incarceration cost attaches to imprisonment after July 1, 1994;

not to earlier crime.

Recidivist statutes loom large in the landscape of criminal

sanctions.  Early, such statutes were challenged on ex post

facto grounds, when the predicate crimes were committed before

the recidivist statue took effect.  These challenges were

readily rejected.  See Reeves v. State, 612 So.2d 560 (Fla.

1992) ("This court has also rejected ex post facto challenges to

the habitual offender statute in Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So.2d

500 (Fla.1962); Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla.1956); and

Cross v. State, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (1928).").

Enhanced punishment for repeat felony convictions attaches

only to the "new" crime.  A recidivist felon is not made to

serve additional prison time for the "old" offense.

Nevertheless, a lengthier recidivist sentence could not be

imposed but for the pre-statute crime.

Goad is liable for incarceration costs because of on-going

imprisonment.  While he would not have been in prison but for
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the crime he committed before §960.297 was enacted, he is no

different from recidivist felons whose eligibility to receive

lengthier sentences depends on pre-statute crimes.  Just as a

recidivist felon cannot evade a longer sentence on ex post facto

grounds, Goad cannot avoid prospective liability for

incarceration costs.  See also, Jackson v. State, 729 So.2d 947,

950 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (upholding, against ex post facto

attack, application of statute prohibiting possession of

firearms by persons convicted for certain felonies, when those

felonies were committed before statute took effect), rev. den.

727 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1999).

The analogies between this case and Reeves or Jackson are

strong.  Reeves received a longer sentence, for a post-enactment

crime, under a recidivist law which relied on certain antecedent

felonies.  Jackson was convicted for post-enactment violation of

a statute which prohibited possession of firearms by persons

convicted for specified prior felonies.

Goad was held liable for post-enactment incarceration costs

based on continued imprisonment for an antecedent crime.  The

statute was triggered by his ongoing incarceration, not the pre-

enactment crime.  He had no choice but to remain in prison, and

could not avoid the statute's operation.  
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Similarly, the challengers in Reeves and Jackson could not

avoid the operation of the statutes affecting them.  Reeves

could not escape the possibility of a longer sentence if he

later committed a new crime.  More similar to Goad, Jackson was

prohibited from possessing a firearm based on a prior felony.

He was not statutorily allowed to commit one of the enumerated

felonies in the future, only then to be prohibited from

possessing a firearm.

Goad's liability for costs attends his continued

imprisonment, not his 1990 crime.  Section 960.297 has no affect

on the length of time he could spend in prison.  It does not

change the legal consequence of his imprisonment before July 1,

1994.  Goad's reliance on Weaver v. Graham, 101 S.Ct. 960 (1981)

and citation to other prisoner gaintime cases (initial brief,

p.14) is misplaced.
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2.  §960.297 Does Not Expressly Impose "Punishment"

If §960.297 is found retroactive as applied, Goad's ex post

facto claim must still fail; as the statute is civil and does

not impose punishment.  The first determination, then, is

whether §960.297 is overtly civil in character.  See Kansas v.

Hendricks, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 2081-2 (1997) ("We must initially

ascertain whether the legislature meant the statute to establish

'civil' proceedings.").

A constitutional line is drawn “between civil, remedial

actions brought primarily to protect the government from

financial loss and actions intended to authorize criminal

punishment to vindicate public justice.”  United States ex rel

Marcus v. Hess, 63 S.Ct. 379, 386 (1943).  The nature of a

statute may be discovered in either express or implied

legislative intent:  has the Legislature, “in establishing the

penalizing mechanism, indicated either expressly or impliedly a

preference for one label or the other.”   See Hudson v. United

States, 118 S.Ct. 488, 493 (1997), quoting United States v.

Ward, 100 S.Ct. 2636, 2641 (1980).

Section 960.297 is codified in Title XLVII of the Florida

Statutes, which includes numerous chapters on "criminal

procedure and corrections."  Such placement, by itself, does not

control.  See Hendricks, 117 S.Ct. at 2082 (recognizing a "civil
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label is not always dispositive").  Here, the Legislature itself

repeatedly declared the civil nature of the statute.  See §2, 4-

7 & 9, ch. 94-342, Laws of Fla.  See also, id. at §§4-7 (using

the term "civil restitution lien(s)").  Moreover, the placement

of §960.297 within the statutes was not specified by the

Legislature, but done after the fact by administrative staff

pursuant to §11.242(2), Florida Statutes.  Little weight can be

assigned to codification of §960.297 in the "criminal" title of

the Florida Statutes.

Section 960.297 was enacted in ch. 94-342, Laws of Florida,

and must be read in context with the other parts of that law.

Major v. State, 180 So.2d 335, 337 n. 1 (Fla.1965) (observing

that the rule for reading statutes pari materia applies "with

special force where the statutes in question were enacted by the

same legislature as part of a single act").  Accordingly, §2 of

ch. 94-342 repeatedly establishes the non-punitive purpose of

§960.297:

... The Legislature also finds that there is an
urgent need to alleviate the increasing
financial burdens on the state and its local
subdivisions caused by the expenses of
incarcerating convicted offenders.

(1) To remedy these problems, consistent with
the preservation of all citizens' constitutional
rights, the Legislature intends:
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(a) To provide a legal mechanism, in the form
of a civil restitution lien, that will enable
crime victims, the state, and other aggrieved
parties to recover damages and losses arising
out of criminal acts[.]

*     *     *
(c) To ensure that the amount of each civil

restitution lien equals the amount of the actual
damages awarded in the civil action arising from
the crime.

(d) To impose a long-term civil liability for
the costs of incarceration, by means of the
civil restitution lien, against a convicted
offender, regardless of the offender's financial
status at the time of conviction.

(2) The Legislature also finds that crime
victims, the state, and its local subdivisions
are entitled to rough remedial justice and they
may demand compensation for damage and losses.

(3) The Legislature declares that:
*     *     *

(b) This civil restitution lien act rests upon
the principle of remediation and not punishment,
which is meted out by criminal sanctions
afforded by law.

See §960.29, Florida Statutes [e.s.].

Seldom does a legislative body so clearly declare its

purpose for enacting a statute, and establish the civil nature

of a law.  The 1994 Legislature's strong characterization of

§960.297 as civil all but precludes Goad's ex post facto claim.

The decision below relied heavily on the "Hudson factors"

to resolve Goad's ex post facto claim.  (slip op., p.5-8).  In



3Hudson addressed a double jeopardy challenge.  However,
the Supreme Court later used criteria substantively similar to
the "factors" described in Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez, to
uphold a statute against an ex post facto attack.  See
Hendricks, 117 S.Ct. at 2085 ("Our conclusion that the Act is
nonpunitive thus removes an essential prerequisite for both
Hendricks' double jeopardy and ex post facto claims.").

16

Hudson, the Supreme Court mandated greater emphasis be placed on

legislative determination a statute was civil:3

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